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OPINION 

Jose Luis Rios, doing business as Bodega Bar & Restaurant (appellant), appeals 

from a decision of the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control0F 

1 revoking his license 

on the grounds that he: 1) permitted individuals to solicit or encourage others to buy 

them drinks in the licensed premises under a commission, percentage, salary, or other 

profit-sharing plan, scheme or conspiracy, in violation of California Business and 

1 The decision of the Department, dated November 21, 2023, is set forth in the 
appendix. 
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Professions Code1F 

2 section 24200.5(b); 2) employed or permitted individuals to loiter in 

or about the licensed premises for the purpose of begging or soliciting patrons or 

customers to purchase alcoholic beverages, in violation of section 25657(b); 3) 

permitted employees to solicit upon the licensed premises an alcoholic beverage 

intended for their consumption, in violation of rule 1432F 

3; 4) encouraged or permitted 

various individuals on the licensed premises to touch, caress, or fondle the breasts, 

buttocks, anus, or genitals of another person, in violation of rule 143.2(3); 5) permitted 

individuals to perform or simulate an act of sexual intercourse, masturbation, sodomy, 

bestiality, oral copulation, flagellation, or other sexual act upon the premises, in 

violation of rule 143.3(1)(a); 6) permitted individuals to perform or simulate an act of 

touching caressing, or fondling of the breast, buttocks, anus, or genitals upon the 

licensed premises, in violation of rule 143(1)(b); 7) permitted individuals, entertainers, 

whose breasts and/or buttocks were exposed to view, to perform while not on a stage 

18 inches above immediate floor level and removed at least six feet from the nearest 

patron, in violation of rule 143.3(2), and; 8) violated conditions number two and three on 

the license. 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Appellant’s on-sale beer and wine eating place license was issued for the licensed 

premises on July 24, 2017. There is no prior record of departmental discipline against the 

license. 

2 All statutory references are to the California Business and Professions Code 
unless otherwise stated. 

3 All rules referred to herein are contained in title 4 of the California Code of 
Regulations unless otherwise stated. 
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The Department filed the accusation on March 23, 2023.  The Department filed a 

First Amended Accusation on April 14, 2023, and a Second Amended Accusation on July 

28, 2023. At the administrative hearing on August 17, 2023, the Department moved to 

amend several counts by interlineating, which was granted without objection.   

Oral evidence, documentary evidence, and evidence by oral stipulation on the 

record was received at the hearing. Additional evidence was received on September 1, 

2023 vis-à-vis a Motion to Augment the Record, which the Department did not oppose. 

The administrative hearing was held from August 15 to August 17, 2023. 

Department agents Katrina Johnson, Jamie Salvador Martinez, Nathan Lauer, Francisco 

Gonzalez, and Daniel Sumida testified at the hearing. Appellant and his wife, Guadalupe 

Rios, testified, as well as security guard Alexander Rodriguez and waitress/bartender 

Carmen Gonzalez. 

Evidence established that appellant signed a Petition for Conditional License (PCL) 

on June 14, 2017, agreeing to the imposition of three conditions upon his license.   

Conditions two and three include: 

2) The use of any amplifying system or device is prohibited on [the patio] 
and the use of any such system or device inside the premises shall not be 
audible outside the premises. 

3)  The licensee(s) or an employee of the licensee(s) will be present in the 
exterior patio area … at all times that alcoholic beverages are being 
served or consumed. 

Appellant signed the PCL with the understanding that any violation of the conditions 

“shall be grounds for the suspension or revocation of the license.”  (Exhibit 3.) 

MARCH 25, 2022 

On March 25, 2022, agents Martinez and Del Moral went to the licensed premises 

in an undercover capacity to investigate based on complaints the Department received 
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regarding allegations of prostitution, narcotics, and drink solicitation violations.  The 

licensed premises is in an industrial area, with commercial businesses adjacent to it. 

There are train tracks behind the licensed premises and residential housing across the 

train tracks. As the agents parked their car and started walking toward the licensed 

premises, they could hear amplified music emanating from the licensed premises from 

approximately two buildings away. The agents entered the licensed premises at 

approximately 11:20 p.m. 

When the agents entered the licensed premises, they immediately saw a disc 

jockey (DJ) to the right of the entrance on a slightly raised platform. There was no stage 

in the licensed premises.  The bar area was dimly lit but the agents could still see the 

faces and the actions of patrons and employees inside the premises.  While Agent 

Martinez used the restroom, a female approached Agent Del Moral and asked if he 

wanted a lap dance, which he declined. 

After Agent Martinez returned, the agents took a seat at a table at the back end of 

the bar area. Agent Martinez saw an entrance to a patio at the back of the premises 

(Patio A).  The patio was brightly lit.  The licensed premises also had a second, longer 

patio to the left of the entrance (Patio B).  The licensed premises had a total of four 

surveillance cameras: three in the bar area and one in Patio A. 

A waitress approached the agents and asked for their drink order.  The agents 

ordered and paid for a bucket of six, 12-ounce bottles of Pacifico beers, which the 

waitress brought to their table.  The agents took their beers and walked to Patio A.  The 

agents saw and heard loud music from an amplified boom box/speaker sitting on a 

pedestal in the middle of Patio A.  The music from inside the licensed premises was also 

audible in Patio A. 



AB-9993 

5 

The agents took a seat at a table immediately to their right as they walked onto 

Patio A.  The agents consumed their Pacifico beers while they were in Patio A, without 

appellant or his employees present on the patio.  Occasionally, a security guard would 

walk into Patio A for one or two minutes to check the area before walking back into the 

bar area. 

There were approximately 15 tables with chairs in Patio A. Agent Martinez saw a 

female dancer, identified in the accusation as Jane Doe #1 wearing a burgundy dress 

and thong, performing an exotic lap dance upon a male patron who was seated in a chair 

approximately 20 feet away from the agents’ table.  Jane Doe #1, while facing the male 

patron, pulled down the top of her dress and bra exposing her bare breasts, areolas, and 

nipples to the patron. While exposing herself to the male patron, she allowed the patron 

to fondle and caress her breasts multiple times, on and off a few seconds each time. 

Jane Doe #1’s buttocks also contacted the male patron’s pant-covered genitals, off 

and on at different times, for brief seconds at a time, and she jumped up and down on his 

lap.  Jane Doe #1 alternated turning around with her back to the male patron, while doing 

so she lifted up the bottom half of her dress revealing her thong while exposing her 

buttocks to the patron.  Jane Doe #1 turned around, and while facing the patron, she 

caressed and fondled herself as she performed.  Jane Doe #1 performed the above-

described lap dance while not on a stage and not removed at least six feet from the male 

patron as required. 

Agent Martinez ordered another beer from the waitress.  The waitress asked Agent 

Martinez if he liked any of the dancers.  The waitress called over a dancer to sit and talk 

with Agent Martinez.  The dancer introduced herself as Aria.  Agent Martinez asked Aria 

how much she charged for a lap dance and Aria replied $35. Agent Martinez asked Aria 
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what he would get for $35, and Aria touched herself and said, “You get me.”  (Findings of 

Fact, ¶ 11.)  Agent Martinez asked Aria if she would take her clothes off during the dance 

or if she danced nude, and Aria grabbed her breasts and replied, “I’ll show them to you.”   

(Ibid.)  

Agent Martinez agreed to a lap dance with Aria.  Aria grabbed Agent Martinez’ 

hand, walked him over to a corner of Patio A, and sat him on a chair.  Agent Martinez 

tried to pay Aria with a $100 bill, but she said she did not have change and that he could 

pay her at the end of the dance by getting change from the bar. Aria was wearing a see-

through halter top without a bra or pasties covering her nipples and areolas so the agent 

could see Aria’s nipples and areolas through the top with her breasts exposed to view. 

Aria also wore a see-through skirt and a black thong under the skirt, which allowed Agent 

Martinez to see Aria’s buttocks. 

Aria began dancing in front of Agent Martinez, pulling up her skirt and sitting on his 

lap.  Aria ground her buttocks on his genitals, moving up and down with her buttocks 

making contact with his genitals multiple times.  Aria’s actions appeared to Agent 

Martinez to be simulating sexual intercourse with him.  While Aria performed the lap 

dance upon Agent Martinez, she groped, pinched, and fondled her nipples for 20 to 30 

seconds at a time, while she was within five to six inches from him. Aria twice pulled up 

her top completely exposing her breasts, fondling and caressing her bare breasts, and 

swiping her breasts across the agent’s face and mouth. 

Aria also changed her position on the agent’s lap, facing away from him, grinding, 

and moving up and down upon his groin area.  Aria reached back, grabbed the agent’s 

hands, placed them upon her breasts, and squeezed his hands causing him to squeeze 

her breasts. While Aria was engaged in these acts with Agent Martinez, she was not on a 
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stage and she was within inches of Agent Martinez, while at times touching him, including 

making skin to skin contact between Aria’s breasts and the agent’s face and mouth.  After 

Aria finished the lap dance, she and Agent Martinez walked to the fixed bar where he got 

change and paid Aria for the lap dance. Agent Martinez then returned to his table in Patio 

A, where Agent Del Moral was seated. 

At some point, another female dancer wearing a burgundy dress,3F 

4 identified in the 

accusation as Jane Doe #2, approached Agent Martinez at his patio table and asked if 

he wanted a lap dance.  Agent Martinez asked Jane Doe #2 the price, and Jane Doe #2 

replied that a dance was $40. Agent Martinez declined, saying that other dancers 

charged him less.  Jane Doe #2 walked away. 

Later, near closing time, Jane Doe #2 told Agent Martinez that she would give him 

a lap dance for $30, to which he agreed.  Jane Doe #2 took Agent Martinez to the 

opposite corner of the patio and placed a free-standing chair against the wall for Agent 

Martinez to sit.  Jane Doe #2 began dancing in front of him, pulling up her dress, which 

revealed her thong underwear and exposed her buttocks to his view.  Jane Doe #2 then 

sat upon Agent Martinez’ lap and performed a dance similar to the dance Agent Martinez 

received earlier from Aria.  The lap dance lasted for the length of a song, approximately 

three minutes. 

While Jane Doe #2 performed the lap dance on Agent Martinez, he could see other 

dancers pulling up chairs for male patrons to sit on at the back of Patio A and perform lap 

dances upon them.  The lap dances performed on Agent Martinez and the male patrons 

in Patio A were not in the view of the camera in Patio A. 

4 Although not explicitly stated, both Jane Doe #1 and #2 appear to be wearing 
burgundy dresses.   
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MAY 13, 2022 

Agents Martinez and Del Moral returned to the licensed premises in an undercover 

capacity on May 13, 2022.  At approximately 11:30 p.m., the agents entered the bar and 

ordered a bucket of Modelo beers.  After ordering their beers, the agents walked toward 

the entrance to Patio A.  Before entering Patio A, the agents were stopped by a security 

guard who advised them they needed to purchase alcohol in order to access the patio.  

The agents explained that they had purchased alcohol and that the waitress would be 

bringing a bucket of Modelo beers to them in the patio.  The security guard allowed the 

agents to proceed into the patio area. 

Upon entering Patio A, the agents saw a loudspeaker/boom box, which was upon a 

pedestal stand in the middle of Patio A, playing music and could be heard outside the 

licensed premises.  The agents took a set at a table and were served their bucket of 

Modelo beers.  The agents consumed their beers in Patio A.  At times, there were no 

security or employee present on the patio. A security guard occasionally came onto 

Patio A for a minute or two to check the area before walking back into the bar. 

Agent Martinez observed three female dancers, identified in the accusation as 

Jane Does #3, #4, and #5.  Jane Doe #3 was a Hispanic female wearing a see-through 

black top and see-through skirt.  Jane Doe #4 was a Caucasian female wearing a see-

through blue dress with shoulder straps.  Jane Doe #5 wore either a see-through top and 

skirt or see-through dress.  None of the dancers wore a bra to cover their breasts, nor did 

they wear any pasties to cover their areolas and nipples. 

Jane Does #3, #4, and #5 were all performing lap dances at the same time in the 

patio area upon three separate male patrons.   All three dancers were dancing to the 

music that was playing from the loudspeaker/boombox.  The lap dances by all three Jane 
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Does were similar to what Agent Martinez had observed and experienced himself on his 

prior visit to the licensed premises.  The lap dances appeared to be simulating sexual 

intercourse. None of the dances occurred on a stage and the dancers were within 

inches of the male patrons or making direct contact with the male patrons’ genitalia 

through their clothing. 

Agent Martinez also observed a Hispanic male on the patio wearing black pants, a 

black jacket with a hoody, and gold shoes.  The male was standing in Patio A and 

observing the female dancers as they performed lap dances, and the dancers would 

walk up to him and stand by him.  Based on Agent Martinez’ training and experience with 

exotic dancer/lewd conduct operations, it is common for dancers to have a handler.  The 

Hispanic male appeared to be an employee/handler in charge of monitoring the dancers, 

giving them orders, and looking around to see who was in the patio. 

AUGUST 26, 2022 

Agents Lauer and Sumida arrived in an undercover capacity at the licensed 

premises at approximately 10:35 p.m. on August 26, 2022.  Two security guards patted 

the agents down.  Each agent paid a seven-dollar cover charge and were handed a ticket 

that could be exchanged for one 12-ounce beer.  Upon entering, Agent Lauer could see 

approximately ten females wearing see-through lingerie attire which exposed certain body 

parts. 

The agents walked towards the fixed bar area and were greeted by a Hispanic 

waitress who asked them what they wanted to drink.  The agents ordered two Modelo 

beers, which they received in exchange for the ticket they were given at the front door. 

The agents sat at a table adjacent to the kitchen area at the end of the fixed bar. 
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While seated, the agents observed several male patrons drinking 12-ounce beers 

while accompanied by and conversing with females dressed in lingerie, drinking seven-

ounce beers.  There were two bartenders working behind the fixed bar opening beers and 

giving them to the waitresses and the females dressed in lingerie. Agent Sumida saw two 

waitresses cleaning tables.  The bartenders and waitresses were dressed in regular street 

clothing.  Agent Lauer observed females wearing lingerie walking with male patrons in the 

bar. 

A Hispanic female wearing see-through red lingerie with thong underwear that 

exposed her buttocks to view, approached the agents’ table and introduced herself as 

Sophia. Sophia sat at the agents’ table, and initially spoke to Agent Lauer in Spanish. 

After realizing Agent Lauer’s first language is English, Sophia spoke in English, and asked 

Agent Lauer if he wanted a lap dance. Agent Lauer agreed, and Sophia escorted him to a 

freestanding chair across the room in the corner of the bar area. Agent Lauer sat in the 

chair with his back to the wall. Sophia told Agent Lauer that one lap dance was $30, but 

he could have two for $50.  Agent Lauer agreed to two lap dances and handed her a $50 

bill. 

Sophia straddled Agent Lauer, wrapped her legs around his waist and began 

grinding her buttocks and vagina back and forth, and bouncing up and down over his 

jean-covered genitals.  Sophia continued the dance for Agent Lauer in a similar manner 

experienced by agents on their two prior undercover visits to the licensed premises. 

During the lap dance, appellant’s employees, including bartenders, waitresses, and 

security guards were nearby.  The bartenders were within view of the lap dance, as they 

stood behind the fixed bar approximately 15 feet away.  The waitresses and security 

guards were approximately ten feet away while Sophia performed the lap dance upon 
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Agent Lauer.  No employee or security guard made any attempt to stop Sophia as she 

performed a lap dance.  After Sophia finished the dance, she thanked Agent Lauer and 

walked away.  Agent Lauer returned to the table where Agent Sumida was seated. 

At some point later in the evening, a Hispanic female visited the agents’ table and 

identified herself as Marissa.  Marissa sat at the agents’ table and was drinking a seven-

ounce beer. Agent Lauer asked her why her beer was so small, and Marissa explained 

that a male patron could buy her a seven-ounce bud light beer for $8 in exchange for 

hanging out and spending time with Agent Lauer.  Marissa also explained that male 

patrons could purchase her a 12-ounce Modelo beer for $20 in exchange for her 

company.  Agent Sumida, who was relayed this information by Agent Lauer, asked 

Marissa if she wanted him to buy her a beer, which she agreed.  Agent Sumida asked 

Marissa what type of beer she wanted, and Marissa asked Agent Sumida for a Modelo 

beer. Agent Sumida agreed, and ordered a Modelo beer for himself, and gave Marissa 

$30 cash to pay for her $20, 12-ounce Modelo beer and for his $7, 12-ounce Modelo 

beer, with a $3 tip. 

Agent Sumida watched Marissa as she got up from the table, walked to the fixed 

bar, and spoke with the bartender.  The bartender retrieved two, 12-ounce Modelo beers 

and handed them to Marissa, who returned with the beers, and engaged the agents in 

conversation. Marissa consumed the beer that Agent Sumida bought her. 

After speaking with Agent Sumida for two minutes, Marissa asked him if he would 

like a lap dance.  Agent Sumida asked her how much for the lap dance, and Marissa told 

him it would be $30.  Agent Sumida agreed to the lap dance, and Marissa escorted him 

through Patio A to Patio B, where he sat on a chair in the corner.  Marissa performed a 
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lap dance for Agent Sumida consistent with the other lap dances witnessed and 

experienced by the agents on prior occasions.    

The dance Marissa performed was not on a stage, and she was either in direct 

contact with Agent Sumida or within arm’s reach at all times.  While performing the lap 

dance on Agent Sumida, a male security guard stood approximately 10 feet away by the 

Patio A entrance, facing the patio area.  Neither the security guard nor any employee 

attempted to stop Marissa from performing the lap dance upon Agent Sumida. It 

appeared to Agent Sumida that the security guard’s sole job was to monitor the female 

dancers, because he would only communicate with them. Agent Sumida paid Marissa 

$30 cash for the lap dance and the two of them returned to the bar area and the agents’ 

table. 

Marissa then approached Agent Lauer and asked him if he would like a lap dance, 

to which he agreed.  Marissa told Agent Lauer to go to the patio with her, and she 

escorted him to Patio B and had him sit down in a freestanding chair.  Agent Lauer did not 

see any tables in the Patio B area, only chairs, which he observed female dancers use to 

perform lap dances on male patrons.  Agent Lauer agreed to pay Marissa for a lap dance 

the length of two songs. 

Marissa performed a lap dance upon Agent Lauer consistent with all the other lap 

dances experienced and witnessed by the agents on prior occasions at the licensed 

premises.  Once again, the dance performed by Marissa was not on a stage and she was 

either touching or was within inches of Agent Lauer at all times.  Likewise, no employee or 

agent attempted to stop Marissa from performing the dance upon Agent Lauer.  When the 

dance finished, Agent Lauer paid Marissa and returned to the bar area. Agent Lauer 

joined Agent Sumida, who had moved to a different table, and sat down. 
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While Agent Lauer was receiving a lap dance from Marissa, Agent Sumida 

observed approximately 15 females wearing lingerie-type attire, similar to Marissa’s, 

either conversing with male patrons or performing sexually explicit lap dances upon the 

male patrons.  Agent Lauer also observed other female dancers attired in lingerie 

performing sexually explicit lap dances upon male patrons.    

The agents also observed Marissa throughout the evening at the licensed 

premises.  Agent Sumida saw Marissa on several occasions taking drink orders from 

customers, receiving cash from them, walking to the fixed bar, interacting with the 

bartenders, and retrieving beers from the bartenders and serving the beers to customers. 

It appeared that Marissa had a working relationship with the bartenders.  It appeared to 

both agents that Marissa was employed at the licensed premises. 

Marissa returned to the agents’ table and asked Agent Lauer if he would purchase 

a 12-ounce beer for her.  Agent Lauer agreed, and also ordered a 12-ounce beer for 

himself and Agent Sumida.  Agent Lauer was charged $20 for Marissa’s beer, and $7 

each for his and Agent Sumida’s beer.  Agent Lauer gave Marissa $40 in cash, which 

covered the cost of the beer, as well as a $6 tip.  Agent Sumida watched as Marissa took 

the $40 to the bar where the bartender was working.  Marissa retrieved three, 12-ounce 

bottles of Modelo beer, which Marissa brought to the agents’ table. The agents observed 

Marissa consume the 12-ounce Modelo beer Agent Lauer had purchased for her. 

As the agents then left the licensed premises, Agent Sumida still observed female 

dancers performing lap dances upon male patrons. 

SEPTEMBER 9, 2022 

On September 9, 2022, at approximately 11:40 p.m., agents Sumida and Lauer 

returned to the licensed premises to continue their undercover investigation to determine 
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whether violations were still occurring.  At the entrance, a security guard conducted a pat-

down search of the agents.  The agents each paid a $7 cover charge and in return, were 

given a ticket to be exchanged for one 12-ounce beer inside.  The agents entered the 

licensed premises. 

A female waitress greeted the agents near the fixed bar and asked if they wanted a 

beer.  The agents ordered two Modelo beers, which cost $7 each, and paid with the 

tickets they were given at the front door.  The waitress retrieved the two Modelo beers 

from the fixed bar and delivered them to the agents. 

Upon receiving their beers, the agents walked to Patio A, which was full of people 

as well as tables and chairs positioned close to one another. Agent Sumida observed the 

male patrons were drinking 12-ounce bottles of Modelo beer and the females in lingerie 

attire were also consuming beers.  Agent Sumida observed approximately 30 male 

patrons in Patio B that were receiving sexually explicit lap dances from female dancers 

wearing lingerie attire. 

After finding a table, a Hispanic female wearing a skimpy blue dress approached 

the agents’ table and introduced herself as Rain.  Rain sat at the table with the agents 

and spoke with them. After several minutes, Rain asked Agent Sumida if he wanted a lap 

dance.  Agent Sumida asked the price of the lap dance and Rain replied $20. Agent 

Sumida agreed and paid Rain $20. Rain escorted Agent Sumida to a chair in Patio B and 

began to perform a lap dance consistent with other sexually explicit dances observed and 

experienced by the agents at the licensed premises. 

Throughout the dance performed by Rain, she was not on a stage and was in 

direct contact with Agent Sumida for approximately one minute.  There was a Hispanic 

male security guard standing at the Patio A door throughout the night watching the 
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female dancers and conversing with them.  In Agent Sumida’s training and experience, 

he believed the security guard’s duty was to monitor the female dancers in the licensed 

premises.  The security guard, who was approximately ten feet away from Agent Sumida 

while he received a lap dance from Rain, did not attempt to stop Rain from performing a 

lap dance.  After Rain finished the lap dance, Agent Sumida returned to his table and sat 

down with Agent Lauer. 

Shortly after midnight, a team of officers entered the licensed premises to conduct 

an inspection therein. The team included law enforcement from the Department, the San 

Jose Police Department, the Santa Clara Sheriff’s Office, and the Santa Clara District 

Attorney’s Office.  Department Agent Gonzalez was part of the team that entered the 

licensed premises.  He conducted interviews of appellant’s employees.  One of the 

employees, Lidia Fernandez Rodriguez, told Agent Gonzalez that she was hired by 

appellant’s wife and has worked at the licensed premises for eight years.  She explained 

that patrons are charged $7 for a beer; however, any beer a patron purchases for her 

costs $8 and is split between her and the licensed premises.  Both the licensed premises 

and Ms. Rodriguez receive $4 from such a transaction. 

Agent Gonzalez also interviewed Yamel Aljanera Meza LaBra, who works at the 

licensed premises as a bartender.  Ms. LaBra has worked at the licensed premises for 

two years.  Ms. LaBra told Agent Gonzalez that she charges patrons $7 for their drinks, 

and if a patron offers to buy her a drink, she charges them $5 for a non-alcoholic juice 

drink.  Mr. LaBra denied participating in any drink solicitation activity at the licensed 

premises. 

Department Agent Johnson also arrived with the team of officers at the licensed 

premises after midnight.  Agent Johnson interviewed Alma Gonzalez, who was visiting 
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the licensed premises as a patron.  Agent Gonzalez translated the conversation.  Ms. 

Gonzalez told Agent Johnson that she went to the licensed premises with a male 

companion who purchased a Bud Light beer for her for $8.  Ms. Gonzalez was given $4, 

and asked one of the employees why she was given $4. The employee explained that 

she left the $4 as commission for Ms. Gonzalez for the Bud Light beer the male 

companion purchased for her. 

The administrative law judge (ALJ) issued a proposed decision on September 28, 

2023, recommending that the Department sustain counts 1-2 and 4-43 and revoke 

appellant’s license.  The Department requested comments from appellant in a notice 

dated October 17, 2023.  On November 16, 2023, the Department adopted the proposed 

decision and issued a certificate of decision five days later. 

Appellant filed a timely appeal contending that: 1) the Department erred in not 

allowing appellant to cross-examine Jane Doe # 1 and Jane Doe # 2; 2) the counts for 

noise violations are not supported by substantial evidence; 3) the Department failed to 

prove an employment relationship between the licensed premises and individuals 

participating in a drink solicitation scheme; 4) the Department erred in finding 

Department agents’ testimony credible, despite the fact that they consumed alcohol 

during the investigation, and; 5) the penalty or revocation is unreasonable. 

DISCUSSION 

The Board’s scope of review is limited; it may only review a Department’s decision 

based upon “insufficiency of the evidence, excess of jurisdiction, errors of law, or abuse of 

discretion.”  (Boreta Enterprises, Inc. v. Dept. of Alcoholic Bev. Control (1970) 2 Cal.3d 

85, 95, [84 Cal.Rptr. 113].) 
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Further, the California Constitution provides: 

No judgment shall be set aside, or new trial granted, in any cause, on the 
ground of misdirection of the jury, or of the improper admission or rejection 
of evidence, or for any error as to any matter of pleading, or for any error as 
to any matter of procedure, unless, after an examination of the entire cause, 
including the evidence, the court shall be of the opinion that the error 
complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice. 

(Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13, emphasis added.) The burden to show an alleged error was 

prejudicial is on the party seeking reversal.  (Citizens for Open Government v. City of Lodi 

(2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 296, 308 [140 Cal.Rptr.3d 459].) 

I. ERRORS OF LAW 

Appellant argues that he was “unfairly denied the opportunity to assess the 

credibility of [Jane Does #1 and #2] and the veracity of the allegations concerning their 

lewd acts.”  (Appellant’s Opening Brief (AOB), at p. 3.)  Appellant claims that the 

Department’s failure to identify the Jane Does and allow appellant to investigate and 

conduct discovery violated appellant’s due process rights. (Id. at pp. 3-6.) 

Appellant made this argument at the administrative hearing.  (Conclusions of Law, 

¶ 17.)  The Department rejected appellant’s argument because it “failed to support its 

position with meaningful legal argument and citation to authority,” and found “no evidence 

of any due process or constitutional violations present or prejudice … .”  (Id. at ¶ 18.) 

Appellant cites a litany of cases in its Opening Brief that stand for the general 

proposition that procedural due process rights afford an individual “the right to present 

witnesses and to confront adverse witnesses.”  (Brown v. City of Los Angeles (2002) 102 

Cal.App.4th 155, 175; Cal. Gov. Code § 11513(b); Chambers v. Mississippi (1973) 410 

U.S. 284; Kaiser Co. v. Indus. Acc. Comm’n (1952) 109 Cal.App.2d 54, 60.)  However, 

there are several issues with appellant’s argument. 
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First, the right to confront adverse witnesses is not at issue here.  The Department 

did not interview the Jane Does or call them to testify.  The findings made by the 

Department in its decision were elicited from testimony of the agents, all of whom 

appellant had the opportunity to cross-examine at the administrative hearing. Appellant 

has not cited any legal authority that he was entitled to cross-examine witnesses that did 

not testify at the hearing.  (See Chambers, supra at p. 302 [finding it was an error to deny 

party from cross-examining a witness at trial on the grounds that the witness was not 

“adverse”].)  Appellant is asking this Board to broaden the due process guarantees of the 

14th Amendment, which this Board has no authority to do. 

Second, there is nothing in the record establishing that the Department prevented 

appellant from “presenting witnesses.” Appellant claims the Department erred by failing 

to discover the Jane Does’ identities.  (AOB, at pp. 3-6.) Again, appellant’s legal authority 

falls short of supporting this proposition.  (See Kaiser Co., supra at pp. 56-57 [finding error 

in denying party’s application to take depositions of known witnesses outside of 

California].)  Further, appellant had the same opportunity to investigate and discover the 

identities of the Jane Does as the Department.  His failure to do so does not constitute 

reversible error.  (See Johnson v. Alameda Cnty. Med. Ctr. (2012) 205 Cal. App. 4th 521, 

531 [140 Cal. Rptr. 3d 281, 289] [finding that “trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

denying plaintiff's motion to reopen discovery [when party] had years to conduct discovery 

and failed to act diligently.”]) The Board does not find that the Department violated any of 

appellant’s procedural due process rights. 

II. INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

This Board is required to defer to the Department’s findings so long as they are 

supported by substantial evidence.  (See Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control v. 
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Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd. (Southland) (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1094 

[127 Cal.Rptr.2d 652, 659] [citing Kirby v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd. (1968) 

261 Cal.App.2d 119, 122 [67 Cal.Rptr. 628] [“In considering the sufficiency of the 

evidence issue the court is governed by the substantial evidence rule[;] any conflict in the 

evidence is resolved in favor of the decision; and every reasonably deducible inference in 

support thereof will be indulged. [Citations.]”; see also Kirby v. Alcoholic Bev. etc. Appeals 

Bd. (1972) 25 Cal.App.3d 331, 335 [101 Cal.Rptr. 815] [“When two or more inferences 

can be reasonably deduced from the facts, the reviewing court is without power to 

substitute its deductions for those of the department.”].)  “Substantial evidence” is 

“evidence of ponderable legal significance, which is ‘reasonable in nature, credible and of 

solid value.’ ”  (County of Los Angeles v. Commission on State Mandates (1995) 32 

Cal.App.4th 805, 814 [38 Cal.Rptr.2d 304, 307–308], internal citations omitted.) 

A. Noise Violations 

Appellant argues that the counts for noise violation “should be dismissed for lack of 

probative evidence.”  (AOB, at p. 6.)  Appellant reasons that the only evidence offered by 

the Department in support of these counts were the “self-serving statements” of 

Department agents.  (Ibid.)  Appellant also points out that “no measurement of decibel 

levels [were] conducted.”  (Ibid.) 

The Department found that, “on March 25, 2022, and May 13, 2022, [appellant] 

permitted the use of a loudspeaker (boombox) to play music on the patio and permitted 

the use of that amplifying system or device(s) inside the Licensed Premises that was 

audible outside the Licensed Premises.”  (Conclusions of Law, ¶ 21.)  As stated above, 

the Board will defer to the Department’s findings if supported by substantial evidence. 
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Here, the noise violations and violations of the conditions of appellant’s license are 

supported by the testimony of Agent Martinez.  Agent Martinez testified that he could hear 

amplified music on March 25, 2022, emanating from the licensed premises from at least 

two buildings away.  (Findings of Fact, ¶ 5.) Agent Martinez also “saw and heard loud 

music from an amplified boom box-speaker sitting on a pedestal in the middle of Patio A.” 

(Id. at ¶ 8.)  Agent Martinez also testified that the “music from inside the Licensed 

Premises was audible outside the Licensed Premises.”  (Ibid.) 

On May 13, 2022, Agent Martinez “again saw the loudspeaker/boom box, which 

was upon a pedestal stand in the middle of Patio A, playing music, and could be heard 

outside the Licensed Premises.”  (Findings of Fact, ¶ 15.) 

Agent Martinez’ testimony constitutes substantial evidence of the substantiated 

noise violations against appellant’s license.  Appellant is prohibited by the conditions of 

his license to use of any amplifying system on the patio or to allow music from inside the 

licensed premises to be audible outside.  Nothing in the license or in any legal authority 

cited by appellant requires a decibel level to substantiate a violation.  The Department’s 

decision regarding appellant’s violation of Condition #2 of the license is affirmed. 

B. Solicitation of Patrons 

Appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the solicitation 

counts against him.  (AOB, at pp. 6-10.)  Specifically, appellant argues that there was no 

showing “via an accounting or other documentary evidence that the bar participated in 

overcharging or drink solicitation … .”  (Id. at pp. 6-7.)  Appellant further contends that no 

employment relationship was established between the solicitors and appellant.  (Id. at p. 

7.)  Finally, appellant cites Garcia v. Munro (1958) 161 Cal.App.2d 425, 428-429, to 

support its argument that a person must be employed solely for the purpose of soliciting 
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drinks; it is not enough to merely show that an employee was soliciting drinks while on 

duty and performing other tasks. (Id. at pp. 8-9.) 

Regarding the drink solicitation counts, the Department found: 

16. The preponderance of the evidence supports the violations under 
sections 25657(b) and 24200.5(b). The evidence clearly established a 
common drink solicitation and commission or scheme at the Licensed 
Premises permitted by the Respondent's waitresses and bartenders. The 
evidence further established that on August 26, 2022, Marissa was 
employed and permitted to solicit male patrons to buy her drinks in the 
Licensed Premises under a commission, profit-sharing plan or scheme. 
Marissa was further employed and knowingly permitted to loiter in said 
premises for the purpose of soliciting any patron, including Agent Lauer, to 
purchase alcoholic beverages for her. There was no attempt to hide 
Marissa's loitering, solicitation or the commissioned scheme; it was open 
and obvious. Marissa had a working relationship with the bartenders, as 
observed by the agents. Further evidence that the Respondent's 
employees were aware of the solicitation and commission, profit-sharing 
plan or scheme was through the statement of Respondent's waitress Lidia 
Fernandez Rodriguez. Lidia confirmed the commission and profit-sharing 
plan, explaining that she was cashed out immediately at the fixed bar with 
$4 paid to her and $4 paid to the bar per each beer a male patron 
purchased for her that she solicited. This evidence was consistent with 
Marissa's statements to Agent Lauer of the commission, scheme and 
pricing plan of the beers purchased for her, and for which she provided 
company to those male patrons who purchased her beers at the inflated 
rate. The females' compensation was based in some respect on the 
number of alcoholic beverages purchased. The more beer male patrons 
purchased for the females as a result of the solicitations, the more a 
soliciting female made in commission on those sales. Evidence of a 
scheme and commission paid was further established by the agents' 
expert testimony, including, but not limited to that they purchased their 12-
ounce Modelo beers for $7, as compared to a female's seven-ounce Bud 
Light beer at $8, and 12-ounce Modelo beer at $20. 

(Conclusions of Law, ¶ 16.) In short, the Department found: 1) a drink solicitation scheme 

at the licensed premises; 2) that Marissa was appellant’s employee, and; 3) Marissa was 

employed to solicit male patrons to buy her drinks.  (Ibid.)  

Here, the Department’s findings are supported by the testimony of agents Lauer 

and Sumida.   (Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 1, 2, 5, 24-25, 30, 36, 38, 49, 51, 55, and 65.) The 
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Department found that the agents testified credibly (see section C, infra), and the 

testimony constitutes substantial evidence supporting the Department’s findings.    

A licensee has a general, affirmative duty to maintain a lawful establishment. 

Presumably this duty imposes upon the licensee the obligation to be diligent in 

anticipation of reasonably possible unlawful activity, and to instruct employees 

accordingly. (Laube v. Stroh (1992) 2 Cal.App.4th 364, 367 [3 Cal.Rptr.2d 779].) 

Similarly, in Reimel, the court stated: 

[A] licensee can draw no protection from his lack of knowledge of 
violations committed by his employees or from the fact that he has taken 
reasonable precautions to prevent such violations. There is no 
requirement . . . that the licensee have knowledge or notice of the facts 
constituting its violation. [Citations.] 

(Reimel v. Alcoholic Bev. Control Appeals Bd. (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 520, 522 [ 60 Cal. 

Rptr. 641], internal quotations omitted.) 

The doctrine of respondeat superior provides that an employer or principal is 

vicariously liable for the wrongful conduct of his or her employees or agents committed 

within the scope of the employment or agency. (Perez v. Van Groningen & Sons, Inc. 

(1986) 41 Cal.3d 962, 967 [227 Cal.Rptr. 106].)   And it is well-settled in alcoholic 

beverage case law that an agent or employee's on-premises knowledge and misconduct 

is imputed to the licensee/employer. (See Yu v. Alcoholic Bev. Control Appeals Bd. (1992) 

3 Cal.App.4th 286, 295 [4 Cal.Rptr.2d 280]; Kirby v. Alcoholic Bev. Control Appeals Bd. 

(1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 732, 737 [109 Cal.Rptr. 291].) 

Indeed, earlier in Laube, the court observed that the ALJ’s factual findings — 

notably not subject to review on appeal — include: 

[T]he element of the licensee’s knowledge of illegal and improper activity 
on his or her premises; this knowledge may be either actual knowledge or 
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constructive knowledge imputed to the licensee from the knowledge of his 
or her employees. 

(Laube, supra at p. 367, citing Fromberg v. Dept. of Alcoholic Bev. Control (1959) 169 

Cal.App.2d 230, 233-234 [337 P.2d 123].) Importantly, as the court of appeals observed 

in McFaddin: 

It is not necessary for a licensee to knowingly allow its premises to be 
used in a prohibited manner in order to be found to have permitted its use. 
. . . Further, the word "permit" implies no affirmative act. It involves no 
intent. It is mere passivity, abstaining from preventative action. 

(McFaddin San Diego 1130, Inc. v. Stroh (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 1384, 1389-1390 [257 

Cal.Rptr. 8], internal quotations omitted, emphasis in original.) 

Here, the Board sees no error in the Department’s findings that appellant’s 

employee, Marissa, engaged in a drink solicitation scheme, and was employed and 

knowingly permitted to loiter in said premises for the purpose of soliciting any patron.  As 

stated above, these findings are supported by substantial evidence.  Marissa’s 

misconduct is imputed to appellant under the above-cited, and extensive, legal authority. 

Finally, this matter is distinguishable from Garcia, where the court found the 

alleged solicitor, Jennie: 

[W]as employed as a bartender or waitress and performed the duties of 
that position. Certainly evidence that she talked with patrons, spent some 
time with them and solicited some patrons to buy her drinks does not 
support a finding that she was employed to “loiter” on the premises to 
solicit drinks. If there was evidence that the licensees paid her a 
commission for drinks solicited, that might be some indication that she 
was employed “to loiter” to solicit drinks. But the fact that a bartender or 
waitress solicits a drink from a patron, and talks with him, does not support 
an inference that such bartender or waitress was employed “to loiter” to 
solicit drinks. There is no evidence at all that Jennie sat down with the 
patrons or neglected her duties as a bartender while drinking with patrons. 
There is no evidence that she lingered idly by or was loafing on the job. 

(Garcia, supra at p. 429.) 
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Here, there was substantial evidence that Marissa was paid a commission, that 

she sat down with patrons, and did not perform any other duties at the licensed premises. 

(Ibid.)  In that vein, this case is more like Wright v. Munro (1956) 144 Cal.App.2d 843 [301 

P.2d 997], where “the woman who was loitering did no other work.” (Garcia, supra at p. 

429.)  The Department’s decision regarding the solicitation counts is, therefore, affirmed. 

C. Credibility of Department Witnesses 

Appellant argues that the Department agents’ perception, and thus, testimony, was 

altered through consumption of alcohol.  (AOB, at pp. 11- 13.)  Appellant points out that 

the agents consumed alcoholic beverages while at the licensed premises and failed to 

keep track of the number of beers they consumed.  (Id. at p. 11.)  Appellant contends that 

the agents’ testimony, which was affected by alcohol, “falls far short of reliable and 

credible evidence.”  (Id. at p. 12.) 

It is the province of the ALJ, as trier of fact, to make determinations as to witness 

credibility.   (Lorimore v. State Personnel Bd. (1965) 232 Cal.App.2d 183, 189 [42 

Cal.Rptr. 640]; Brice v. Dept. of Alcoholic Bev. Control (1957) 153 Cal.App.2d 315, 323 

[314 P.2d 807]; People v. Burton (1958) 162 Cal.App.2d 790, 792 [328 P.2d 492, 493] [“It 

was for the trier of the facts to pass upon the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to 

be accorded the evidence.”].)   "The trier of fact . . . is the sole judge of the credibility of the 

witnesses [and] may disbelieve them even though they are uncontradicted if there is any 

rational ground for doing so . . ."   (Pescosolido v. Smith (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 964, 970-

971 [191 Cal.Rptr. 415].)   The Appeals Board may not interfere with an ALJ’s credibility 

determinations absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion. 

The Department found that Agent Martinez “did not feel the effects of the alcoholic 

beverages he consumed” during his visits to the licensed premises. (Findings of Fact, ¶ 
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23.) The Department further found: 

When Agent Lauer works undercover operations if he consumes alcohol, it 
is his practice to only take incidental sips and not to drink the entirety of 
the alcoholic beverage.  Agent Lauer did not feel the effect of the alcohol 
he consumed in the Licensed Premises.  Agent Sumida slightly[fn] felt the 
effect of the alcohol he consumed in the Licensed Premises, but it did not 
affect his ability to perform his undercover job duties. 

(Id. at ¶ 39.)  Agent Sumida testified that “on a scale of one to 10, 10 being obviously 

intoxicated and zero being no influence at all, Agent Sumida said the effects of alcohol he 

felt were a one or two.”  (Id. at ¶ 39, footnote 11.)  Finally, the Department found that 

“[t]he alcohol that the undercover agents drank inside the Licensed Premises did not 

affect or impair their ability to perform their undercover duties, including, but not limited to, 

listening, talking and making observations.”  (Id. at ¶ 47.)  In other words, the Department 

found that the agents testified credibly, despite consuming alcoholic beverages, and 

afforded great weight to their testimony. 

Based on the above, appellant’s arguments regarding the credibility of the 

Department agents must be rejected.  The trier of fact considered the effects of alcohol on 

the agents’ perceptions and observations during their undercover visits to the licensed 

premises and found them to be credible. The Board is expressly prohibited from 

reweighing the evidence to reach a different result. (Department of Alcoholic Beverage 

Control v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1429, 1437 

[13 Cal.Rptr.3d 826, 837].) 

III. ABUSE OF DISCRETION/PENALTY 

Appellant contends the Department’s penalty of revocation is excessive.  (AOB, at 

pp. 13-20.)  Appellant argues that it offered substantial evidence of mitigation, which was 

unfairly disregarded by the Department.  (Id. at p. 16.)  Appellant cites the fact that it had 
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no prior disciplinary history, that it was not aware of the crimes that were occurring at the 

licensed premises, and that it instituted “significant measures to prevent the underlying 

violations” as support that he deserved a lesser penalty.  (Id. at pp. 17-18.) 

Finally, in its briefs and at oral argument, appellant argued that revocation is 

disproportionate to the offenses appellant was charged with, in contravention to Walsh v. 

Kirby (1974) 13 Cal.3d 95, 103 [529 P.2d 33].  (AOB, at pp. 15-16.) Appellant further 

claims revocation amounts to “cruel or unusual punishment” and is a violation of his due 

process rights.  (Appellant’s Closing Brief, at p. 8.) 

This Board may examine the issue of excessive penalty if it is raised by an 

appellant. (Joseph's of Cal. v. Alcoholic Bev. Control Appeals Bd. (1971) 19 Cal.App.3d 

785, 789 [97 Cal.Rptr. 183].) However, the Board will not disturb the Department's 

penalty order in the absence of an abuse of discretion.  (Martin v. Alcoholic Bev. Control 

Appeals Bd. & Haley (1959) 52 Cal.2d 287, 291 [341 P.2d 296].)   An administrative 

agency abuses its discretion when it “exceeds the bounds of reason.”  (County of Santa 

Cruz v. Civil Service Commission of Santa Cruz (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 1577, 1582 [90 

Cal.Rptr.3d 394, 397].)  However, “[i]f reasonable minds might differ as to the propriety of 

the penalty imposed, this fact serves to fortify the conclusion that the Department acted 

within its discretion.”  (Harris v. Alcoholic Bev. Control Appeals Bd. (1965) 62 Cal.2d 589, 

594 [43 Cal.Rptr. 633].) 

In determining disciplinary action, the Department is required to consider the 

penalty guidelines incorporated in California Code of Regulations, title 4, section 144.   

The standard penalties for appellant’s violations are: 

• Violation of Section 24200.5(b) Revocation   
• Violation of Section 25657(b) […] – 30 day suspension To revocation 
• Employees accepting alcoholic drinks – Rule 143 CCR – 15 day suspension 
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• Nude Entertainers, etc. – Rule 143.2 &. 3 30 day suspension to revocation 
• Violation Of Conditions – B&P 23804 15 day suspension with 5 days 

stayed for one year 

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 4, § 144 [emphasis in original].)  Nevertheless, rule 144 allows the 

Department to deviate from the standard penalty when, “in its sole discretion[, it] 

determines that the facts of the particular case warrant such deviation — such as where 

facts in aggravation or mitigation exist.”  (Ibid., emphasis added.) 

Factors in aggravation include prior disciplinary history, prior warning letters, 

licensee involvement, premises located in high crime area, lack of cooperation by the 

licensee in investigation, appearance and actual age of minor, and continuing course or 

pattern of conduct.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 4, § 144.)  Factors in mitigation include the 

length of licensure at the subject premises without prior discipline or problems, positive 

action by the licensee to correct the problem, documented training of the licensee and the 

employees, and cooperation by the licensee in the investigation.  However, neither list of 

factors is exhaustive; the Department may use its discretion to determine whether other 

aggravating or mitigating circumstances exist.  (Ibid.)    

Regarding appellant’s penalty, the Department found: 

The aggravation substantially outweighs the mitigation, if any. There was 
no documented training of the licensee and his employees. There was 
insufficient evidence of positive action by the licensee to correct the 
rampant, unlawful problems in the Licensed Premises. Mr. Rios continues 
to rely upon employees to run the day-to-day operations.   

Aggravation is warranted given the Respondent was, and continues to 
be,[fn] an absentee licensee who failed/fails to take his responsibilities as a 
licensee seriously, leaving the premises in the hands of employees, who 
were condoning and encouraging the violations at hand. No mitigation is 
warranted for Mr. Rios altering his surveillance system to allow it to record, 
given he never checked the cameras and there were no cameras 
encompassing all of Patio A, let alone in Patio B, where violations were 
occurring. Although Guadalupe Rios checked the cameras for 
approximately 10 minutes here and there, the policy (whether it was 
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already in place or newly created after the accusation) of having a security 
guard warn the females was not working, given the openly rampant, lewd 
unlawful conduct by multiple entertainers/dancers and multiple violations 
that continued to occur in the Licensed Premises on multiple dates during 
a six-month undercover investigation, and under the supervision of 
Respondent's employees. 

(Decision, at p. 31.)    

As the Board has said many times over the years, the extent to which the 

Department considers mitigating or aggravating factors is a matter entirely within its 

discretion. Rule 144 provides the standard penalty for violation of section 24200.5(b) is 

revocation, which is what appellant received. Several of appellant’s other violations could 

also merit revocation based on Rule 144. 

Importantly, since the penalty for violation of 24200.5(b) is revocation, Walsh, 

supra, 13 Cal.3d 95, does not apply.  In Walsh, the Department accumulated counts 

against a licensee, which alone, would not warrant revocation of its license.  (Id. at p. 

102.)   However, by accumulating counts and artificially creating a higher monetary penalty 

and suspension, the Department effectively revoked the license.  (Id. at p. 103.) This type 

of “de facto revocation” was found to be excessive.  (Id. at p. 106.) 

Here, revocation is the standard penalty under Rule 144 for appellant’s violation of 

section 24200.5(b).  Thus, it is immaterial whether appellant had one violation or several 

violations of section 24200.5(b).  Appellant’s true gripe is that he did not receive a stayed 

revocation. Yet, the record shows that the Department considered both mitigating and 

aggravating evidence offered at the hearing.  The Department’s rejection of appellant’s 

mitigation evidence in favor of aggravating factors, and thus, revocation over stayed 

revocation, does not establish an abuse of discretion.  The Board sees no error. 
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ORDER 

The decision of the Department is affirmed.5 

SUSAN BONILLA, CHAIR 
SHARLYNE PALACIO, MEMBER 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL 

APPEALS BOARD 

5 This final order is filed in accordance with Business and Professions Code section 
23088 and shall become effective 30 days following the date of the filing of this order as 
provided by section 23090.7. 

Any party, before this final order becomes effective, may apply to the appropriate 
court of appeal, or the California Supreme Court, for a writ of review of this final order in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code section 23090 et seq. Service on the 
Board pursuant to California Rules of Court (Rule 8.25) should be directed to: 400 R 
Street, Ste. 320, Sacramento, CA 95811 and/or electronically to: 
abcboard@abcappeals.ca.gov. 

mailto:abcboard@abcappeals.ca.gov
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